
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance, please contact Debbie Dedeaux at 225.774.5795 to 
describe the assistance that is necessary. 
 

 

City of Baker School Board  
Board Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, December 3, 2024, 6:00 P.M. 
School Board Office 

Joyce Burges, President – Presiding 
“Education is that which remains, if one has forgotten everything he learned in school.”― Albert Einstein 

 
A. Meeting Commencement  

1. Call to Order  
2. Roll Call  
3. Silent Meditation  
4. Pledge of Allegiance  

B. Welcome of Visitors  
C. Recognitions  
 1. Middle School Band 
D. Approval of Agenda (Action)  
E. Action Items-The public may comment on Action Items. Public Comment is limited to 2 minutes per 

individual. 
1. Consideration and Approval of Minutes from the School Board Meeting of November 5, 2024.  
2. Consideration and Acceptance of Monthly Financial Reports including Budget to Actual Comparisons for 

the Periods Ending September 30, 2024 and October 31, 2024 
3. Consideration and Acceptance of award of contract for Project Management and Disaster Recovery 

Services to CSRS. 
4. Consideration and Approval of Amendment 1 to Terracon for engineering and testing services at Baker 

High School. 
F. Information Items 

1. Superintendent's Report on Personnel 
2. Forethought Policy Update number 4: 

A. B-12: NOTIFICATION OF SCHOOL BOARD MEETINGS 
B. C-03: EMPLOYMENT OF SUPERINTENDENT 
C. F-08: PERSONNEL RECORDS 
D. F-09: RECRUITMENT 
E. F-12: USE OF PRONOUNS AND GIVEN NAMES 
F. G-2.4c: EDUCATION OF STUDENTS WITH EXCEPTIONALITIES 
G. G-2.4e: SEX EDUCATION 
H. H-3.6: STUDENT HEALTH SERVICES 

G. Announcements 
1. Date of Next Meeting – January 7, 2024 

5. Adjournment (Action) 



 
         

City of Baker School Board Meeting 
November 5, 2024 

 
MINUTES 

 
The City of Baker School Board held a public meeting beginning at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 
November 5, 2024. 
 
Prior to the board meeting, a community meeting was held to allow members of the community 
to ask questions and comment on any school system concerns. 
 
Following community questions and comments, President Burges called the board meeting to 
order and explained to visitors the process for speaking on action agenda items is to request a 
comment card from Mr. Ricky Jones.  Write your name on the card as well as the number of the 
agenda item you wish to speak on and return the card to Mr. Jones.  He will bring the card up to 
the Board President at the appropriate time.  Visitors will be allowed two (2) minutes to speak. 
 
Mrs. Burges welcomed all visitors to the meeting and took roll call: 
 
 Perkins: Present 
 Profit:    Absent 
 Joseph:  Present 
 Butler:   Present 
 Burges:  Present 
 
President Burges announced there was a quorum and the meeting would proceed. 
 
President Burges requested that everyone stand for a moment of silent meditation, and the Pledge 
of Allegiance, to be led by Superintendent Stroder. 
 
Recognitions: 
 

1. The recognition of the Baker Middle School band will be done at the December 3rd 
School Board meeting. 

 
On motion of Mrs. Perkins seconded by Ms. Butler, the Board voted to approve the meeting 
agenda.  Voting yes: Perkins, Butler, Joseph, and Burges.  Voting no: None.  Absent: Profit. 
 
Action Items: 
 

1. Consideration and Approval of Minutes from the School Board Meeting of October 1, 
2024 
On motion of Ms. Butler seconded by Mrs. Perkins, the Board voted to approve the 
minutes from the School Board Meeting of October 1, 2024.  Voting yes: Perkins, Butler, 
Joseph, and Burges.  Voting no: None.  Absent: Profit. 



 
City of Baker School Board Minutes 
November 5, 2024 
Page 2 
 
Information Items: 
 

1. Superintendent’s Report on Personnel 
There were no personnel actions to report. 
 

Announcements: 
 

1. Date of Next Meeting -- December 3, 2024. 
 

2. President Burges announced that she would like for the Board to consider having certain 
committee meetings in the future. 
 

Adjournment: 
 

On motion of Ms. Butler seconded by Mrs. Joseph, the Board voted to adjourn at 6:55 
p.m.  Voting yes: Perkins, Butler, Joseph, and Burges.  Voting no: None.  Absent: Profit. 

 
 
Submitted by J.T. Stroder, Secretary. 

 
 















 
 

City of Baker School System 
  Post Office Box 680 
      Baker, Louisiana 70704-0680 

                     Phone (225) 774-5795 
              Fax (225) 774-5797 
          www.bakerschools.org 

 
BID AWARD SUMMARY 

 BID TITLE:  PROGRAM/PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND DISASTER RECOVERY/GRANTS  
    MANAGEMENT PROFESSIONAL SEVICES 
 BID NUMBER: RFP5172 2024/2025 
 
 BID DUE:  October 16, 2024 at 2:00 p.m.  
 
 BID OPENING: October 17, 2024 at 2:00 p.m.  
    City of Baker School Board  
    14750 Plank Road  
    Baker, Louisiana 70714 

CONTRACT TERM: December 04, 2024 with a 3 year Extension (Pending Board Approval). 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  1000262070000700 (General Fund and or Fema) 
 
BOARD MEETING DATE:  December 03, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
ADVERTISEMENT DATES: September 10th , September 16th and September 23rd   
 
NUMBER OF VENDOR RESPONSES: 3 
              RUBRIC SCORE   
 
QUALIFIED VENDORS: 3      CSRS, LLC       340 

 ROSTAN SOLUTIONS     254 
 BELFOR PROPERTY RESTORATION   234 
 

               
RECOMMENDATION: listed below, based on the best responsive point scores according  
      to the Rubric Scale. 
 
BID AWARD VENDOR      RUBRIC SCORE         
CSRS, LLC        340 
 
Explanations: Award of this contract will enable the City of Baker School Board System to use CSRS, LLC services 

during the contract term. 
  
 The City of Baker School System reserves the right to reject any or all proposals whenever such rejection is 

in its best interest in accordance with law. The provisions and requirements of this advertisement shall not 
be waived.  

Purchasing Department 
Alisa Sibley, 
City of Baker School System 
 

 
The City of Baker School System does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, gender, age or qualified disability 

 

http://www.bakerschools.org/


 

 

 

 

AMENDMENT #1 
 TO CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS ENGINEERING AND TESTING SERVICES  

FOR BAKER HIGH REBUILD (“Agreement”) 
 

  

 This amendment made by the date of final execution of all parties: 
 

City of Baker School District  (“Owner”) 
14750 Plank Road 
Baker, LA 70714 

 
AND 

 
Terracon Consultants, Inc. ("Contractor") 

2822 O’Neal Lane, Building B 
Baton Rouge, LA 70816-3127 

 
The Owner and the Contractor hereby agree and set forth herein below:  
 
WHEREAS, the Owner and Contractor are parties entered into an Agreement dated the 23rd day 
of September 2022 for the professional series representing the Owner in Material Engineering 
and Testing Services;  
 
WHEREAS, the Owner and the Contractor, each have the authority to do so, desire to enter into 
this Amendment to modify the terms and conditions in the Agreement;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the Owner and the Contractor amend 
the Agreement as follows:  
 

During the scope of work, the Owner requested the Contractor to test the soils and test 
material outside of the Fee Estimate indicated in the original executed contract.  

 
Fee: The Contract Fee will be increased by $11,071.63 for the additional Material 
Engineering and Testing Services provided by the Contract. The total contract sum will 
be revised to $38,465.63. 
 

 
This Amendment is agreed to by:   
City of Baker School District, Owner                       Terracon Consultants, Inc., Contractor 
  
 
By: _________________________                                By: _________________________ 
Date: _________                       Date: _10/30/24________   
James T. Stroder, Superintendent                               Lynne Roussel, PE – Principal  
 
End of Amendment 01. 
 

 

























November 2024 Personnel Report 
 
Administrative, Instructional and Support Staff Positions  
December 3, 2024  
  
I. Report of Resignations of Employment   
Meshell Ellison-Hill  
Stephanie Patten  
Branton Moncriffe  
II. Report of Retirements  
III. Report of Appointments   
IV. Report of Reassignments/Transfers   
1V. Report of Sick Leave Request  
VI. Report of Reduction in workforce  
 



 

 
 
 

POLICY UPDATE:   2024         
 

October  2024:  LEGISLATIVE UPDATE PART IV 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
his final installment of the 2024 PolicyAlert Legislative Update series wraps up policy 

revisions necessitated by bills passed during the 2024 Louisiana Legislative session.   It also  
includes one revision from 2017.   Forethought includes several policies, though some only affect 
parishes with populations of 25,000 or more, and others which only affect certain school systems 
with relevant policies affected by legislation.  Only a few School Boards will receive all the policies 
discussed with this issue. 
 
Notification of School Board Meetings 
Broadcasting and Taping of School Board Meetings 

Act 539, effective August 1, 2024, revised La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §42:23 requiring each School Board 

in a parish with a population of twenty-five thousand (25,000) or more to broadcast live all of its 

proceedings in public meetings, including the School Board's committee meetings.  It also revised 

La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §42:19, requiring that sufficient information to enable the public to locate the 

broadcast for viewing be included in notification of the meetings.   

Broadcast live is defined in the Act as the publicly available distribution of audio and video of a 

meeting in real or near real time via the internet or television broadcast.  
 

Policies In This Issue: 
  

   ●Notification of School Board Meetings   ●Use of Pronouns and Given Names 
●Broadcasting and Taping of School Board Meetings   ●Recruitment 
●School Board Agenda/School Board Meetings             ●Sex Education 
     Rules of Procedure        ●Education of Students with Exceptionalities 
●Employment of Superintendent       ●Student Health Services 
●Personnel Records       
        
    

October, 2024                      Forethought Consulting, Inc. 

T 

“Keeping Tabs on School Board Policy” 



POLICYALERT                     October, 2024  

© FORETHOUGHT CONSULTING, INC.                2 

These revisions are reflected in policies 
Notification of School Board Meetings and 
Broadcasting and Taping of School Board 
Meetings for those systems in parishes with 
populations of twenty-five thousand (25,000) or 
more. 
 
School Board Agenda/ 
School Board Meetings Rules of Procedure 
 
Act 191, effective August 1, 2024, revised La. 
Rev. Stat. Ann. §42:19 allowing parish School 
Boards in parishes with a population of 125,000 
or more, reducing it from 200,000, according to 
the latest federal decennial census to use a 
consent agenda if an agenda contains more 
than fifty items. However, the School Board must 
allow public comment before any action is taken 
on the consent agenda.   
 
Any School Board using a consent agenda 
which is reflected in the Agenda Preparation and 
Dissemination policy or School Board Meetings 
Rules Procedures policy has been reviewed 
and/or revised as necessary to ensure that the 
public comment information is included. 
 
Employment of Superintendent 
 
Act 193, effective August 1, 2024, revised La. 
Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:54, requiring that a 
Superintendent’s contract include that the 
Superintendent be subject to a performance 
evaluation by the School Board. 
 
The new requirement has been added to the 
Employment of Superintendent policy 
 
Personnel Records 
 
Act 495, effective June 4, 2024, revised La. Rev. 
Stat. Ann. §45:11 removing some limitations on 
confidential records.  The statute now includes 
that home and personal wireless number, home 
address, and personal email address of 
employees are confidential. Act 295 revised the 
same information, but according to the Louisiana 
Law Institute, the language adopted under Act 
495 would be that used to revise the statute. 
 
The Personnel Records policy reflects these 
revisions. 
 

Use of Pronouns and Given Names 
 
Act 680, effective August 1, 2024, enacted La. 
Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:2122. This new statute 
forbids School Boards from adopting a policy 
“that provides for an inquiry of an employee’s 
pronouns that is inconsistent with the 
employee’s sex, or provides for an inquiry of an 
employee’s name other than the employee’s 
legal name.”  It also forbids School Boards from 
adopting a policy “that provides for an inquiry of 
a student’s pronouns that is inconsistent with the 
student’s sex.”  Employees shall not be required 
to address a student by a name other than the 
student’s legal name or required to use a 
pronoun that is inconsistent with the student’s 
sex.  Other language in the statute includes 
definitions and disciplinary actions which may 
not be taken against employees and students in 
regard to this new language. 
 
New policy Use of Pronouns and Given Names 
reflects the language included in the new 
statute. 
 
Recruitment 
 
The revision to the Recruitment policy is based 
on Act 423 of 2017.  The Act revised La. Rev. 
Stat. Ann. §17:15, adding student services to the 
list of persons providing services which require 
criminal history review.    
 
Sex Education 
 
Act 681, effective August 1, 2024, enacted La. 
Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:412, prohibiting teachers to 
instruct or discuss topics of sexual orientation or 
gender identity in grades kindergarten through 
twelve.  We have added the information to the 
Sex Education policy. 
 
Education of Students with Exceptionalities 

Act 689, effective August 1, 2024, revised La. 

Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:1944, requiring School 

Boards to adopt a policy that each school under 

its jurisdiction provide “written information 

regarding legal procedures affecting the transfer 

of individual rights from parent to child which the 

child attains the age of majority.”  The document 



POLICYALERT                     October, 2024  

© FORETHOUGHT CONSULTING, INC.                3 

 shall inform parents of legal options and how 

each option relates to such transfer of rights.  

At the child's first Individualized Education 

Program (IEP) meeting of the school year, the 

document shall be provided to a parent of each 

child who is fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, or 

seventeen years old who participates in 

alternate assessment pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. 

Ann. §17:24.4(F)(3) or an alternate pathway to 

promotion pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. 

Ann.§17:24.4(H). Parents shall be provided a 

form by which to confirm receipt of the 

information.  
 
The State Department of Education is to develop 
the information and provide it to each School 
Board. 

This information has been added to the 
Education of Students with Exceptionalities 
policy. 
 
Student Health Services 
 
Forethought initially revised this policy earlier 
this year based on Act 161.  Act 375, effective 
August 1, 2024, however, enacted La. Rev. Stat. 
Ann. §17436.5 to require that School Boards 
adopt a policy that each school nurse participate 
in an in-service training program of at least one 
hour relative to sickle cell disease.  Although it 
would not be considered necessary include 
every training required for school nurses in 
policy, the legislature’s requirement to adopt a 
policy necessitated the training’s inclusion in the 
Student Health Services policy.   



FILE:  B-12.1 
Cf:  B-11, B-12.2, D-3.3 

City of Baker School District                                                                         1 of 2 

NOTIFICATION OF SCHOOL BOARD MEETINGS 
 
  
The City of Baker School Board shall give written public notice of all regular meetings, if 
established by resolution, at the beginning of each calendar year.  The School Board shall 
also give written public notice of any regular, special, or rescheduled meeting, no later 
than twenty-four (24) hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays,  before 
the meeting.  In cases of extraordinary emergencies, such notice shall not be required, 
however, the School Board shall give such notice of the meeting as it deems appropriate 
and circumstances permit. 
 
Notice for committee meetings shall be given one (1) week in advance of the date of the 
meeting, whenever possible, but in no case less than twenty-four (24) hours, exclusive of 
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays, prior to the meeting. 
 
Public notice of any meeting shall include the agenda, date, time, and place of the 
meeting.  It shall also include sufficient information to enable the public to locate the live 
broadcast of the meeting.  The agenda included in the notice shall be reasonably clear o 
as to advise the public in general terms of each subject to be discussed at the public 
meeting.  In addition, attached to the written notice shall be information on any matters to 
be discussed in executive session.  The notice shall indicate the following: 
 
 1. A statement identifying the court, case number, and the parties relative to 

any pending litigation to be considered at the meeting. 
 
 2. A statement identifying the parties involved and reasonably identifying the 

subject matter of any prospective litigation for which formal written demand 
has been made that is to be considered at the meeting. 

 
Written public notice given by the School Board shall include, but not be limited to: 
 
 1. Posting a copy of the notice at the School Board's central office or by 

publication of the notice in the School Board's official journal no less than 
twenty-four (24) hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays, and legal 
holidays,  before the scheduled time of the meeting. 

 
2. Mailing a copy of the Giving notice to any member of the public or the news 

media who requests notice of such meetings; any such member of the news 
media shall be given notice of all meetings by providing the notice to the 
requestor at the same time and in the same manner as is given to members 
of the School Board. 

 
3. Submitting a notice of each meeting to the Commissioner of Administration 

in a manner and format that allows the Commissioner time to post the notice 
on its website prior to twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled time of 
the meeting, as required or advised by the Commissioner of Administration. 



FILE:  B-12.1 
Cf:  B-11, B-12.2, D-3.3 

City of Baker School District                                                                         2 of 2 

 
 4. In addition to the above, by providing notice on the School Board’s website 

no less than twenty-four (24) hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays immediately preceding the meeting. 

 
 
Revised:  November, 2012 
Revised:  May 3, 2016 
Revised:  August, 2024 
Revised:  October, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:81, 42:19, 42:23; Board minutes, 5-3-16.  



FILE:  C-3.4 
Cf:  C-3 

 

City of Baker School Board  1 of 2 

EMPLOYMENT OF SUPERINTENDENT 
 
 
The City of Baker School Board shall employ the Superintendent pursuant to a written 
contract for a period not to exceed four (4) years, which period, however, may extend no 
longer than two (2) years after the expiration of the term of office of the members of the 
School Board electing the Superintendent.  Such contract shall provide that the 
Superintendent is subject to a performance evaluation by the School Board in accordance 
with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:54. Such contract shall contain but need not be limited to also 
provide for specific performance objectives/performance targets as required by La. Rev. 
Stat. Ann. §17:54.  In case of a discrepancy between the contract and any policy, the 
contract provisions shall prevail. 
 
The School Board shall submit a copy of its current employment contract with the 
Superintendent to the State Superintendent of Education. 
 
The Superintendent may choose not to enter into a subsequent contract and may either 
terminate his/her employment or, if he/she has acquired permanent status as a teacher, 
resume employment as a teacher.  
 
The Superintendent shall be retained during the term of a contract unless the 
Superintendent is found incompetent, unworthy, or inefficient or is found to have failed to 
fulfill the terms and performance objectives of his/her contract or to comply with School 
Board policy.  However, before the Superintendent can be removed during the contract 
period, he/she shall have the right to written charges and a fair hearing before the School 
Board after reasonable written notice. 
 
The School Board shall negotiate and offer the Superintendent a new contract at the 
expiration of each existing contract unless a majority of the School Board membership 
votes at least ninety (90) days prior to the termination of the existing contract against 
offering a new contract.  For new or extended contracts entered into after July 1, 2012, 
the School Board shall notify the Superintendent of termination of his/her contract not less 
than thirty (30) days prior to contract termination. 
 
If the Superintendent is found incompetent, unworthy, or inefficient or is found to have 
failed to fulfill the terms and performance objectives of his/her contract or to comply with 
School Board policy, then the Superintendent shall be removed from office prior to the 
expiration of his/her contract by the concurring vote of at least two-thirds (⅔) of the 
membership of the entire School Board at any regular or special meeting after due 
notice.  Before the Superintendent can be removed during the contract period, he/she 
shall have the right to written charges and a fair hearing before the School Board after 
written notice. 
 
A School Board may place a Superintendent on paid administrative leave prior to the 
expiration of his/her contract: 
 

1.  For the purpose of investigating cause for termination. 



FILE:  C-3.4 
Cf:  C-3 

 

City of Baker School Board  2 of 2 

2. Without cause during the final three (3) months of the term of his/her contract 
when the School Board has voted not to extend a new contract offer. 

 
3. At a time as agreed by the Superintendent. 
 
4. At a time as provided for in his/her contract. 

 
Paid administrative leave shall be subject to the following: 
 

1. Approval of a majority of the membership of the School Board. 
 
2. A three (3) month time limit within a six (6) month period. 
 
3. All compensation afforded under the terms of the existing contract. 

 
The School Board shall notify the State Superintendent of Education any time it 
terminates or fails to renew its employment contract with the Superintendent, along with 
the reasons therefor. 
 
INTERIM SUPERINTENDENT 
 
The School Board may, by a majority vote of its membership, select a person to serve as 
the interim Superintendent in the event of the death, resignation, or termination of the 
Superintendent or his/her being placed on paid administrative leave in accordance with this 
policy. 
 
An interim Superintendent shall have the same authority as a Superintendent.  If at any point 
in the final three (3) months of a Superintendent’s contract he/she has been placed on notice 
that the School Board has voted not to offer him/her a new contract and an interim 
Superintendent has been selected in accordance with State law, the authority delegated to 
the Superintendent by the School Board for hiring and placement of all school personnel 
shall extend to the interim Superintendent without action of the School Board. 
 
The election of an interim Superintendent is not subject to the School Board’s policy 
applicable to the process of selection or employment of a Superintendent or to the 
requirement or content of a contract. 
 
A School Board shall not employ an interim Superintendent for longer than six (6) months 
in any given twelve (12) month period unless the appointment is made during the final year 
of the term of the majority of members. 
 
Revised:  May 3, 2016    Revised:  October, 2024 
Revised:  November 18, 2020 
 
 
Ref:  La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:54; Board minutes, 9-6-05, 5-3-16, 11-18-20. 



FILE:  F-8   
    

   

 City of Baker School District                                                                                   1 of 5 

PERSONNEL RECORDS 
 
 
The City of Baker School Board shall require the maintenance of a uniform system of 
personnel records for all employees.  It shall be the responsibility of the Superintendent 
or designee to keep the records updated and complete in accordance with statutory 
provisions.   
 
A personnel file shall be accurately maintained in the central administrative office for each 
present and former employee.  These files shall contain applications for employment, 
references, and records relative to compensation, payroll deductions, evaluations, and 
such other matters as may be considered pertinent to the proper maintenance of all 
personnel records.  It is the duty of the employee to furnish the personnel office with 
certificates, transcripts, statements of degrees, and other educational experience related 
documentation. 
 
The Superintendent shall be designated as custodian of all personnel files and shall have 
the overall responsibility for maintaining and preserving the confidentiality of the files.  The 
Superintendent may, however, designate another official to perform the duties of records 
management on the understanding that this official is to be held responsible for granting 
or denying access to records on the basis of these guidelines. 
 
GENERAL ACCESS TO AN EMPLOYEE'S PERSONNEL FILE 
 
Any school employee requesting to see his/her personnel file shall be given access to 
his/her entire personnel file, including but not limited to all documents placed in the 
employee’s file on or before September 1, 1987.  The contents of a school employee's 
personnel file shall not be divulged to third parties without the express written consent of 
the school employee, except when ordered by a court or by subpoena, or in accordance 
with this policy.  No school system employee other than the personnel file custodian or 
the Superintendent for the system, or the designee of either, who shall be a school system 
employee, shall be allowed access to a school employee's personnel file without the 
school employee's expressed written consent, unless that employee is charged with the 
duty of supervising that particular school employee's performance.  A School Board 
member or any other person authorized pursuant to this policy shall be permitted to 
examine any and all records of the school system, except school employee records 
relative to evaluations, observations, formal complaints, and grievances.  However, in 
accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:81, the School Board, upon a majority vote of 
the total School Board membership, shall have the right to examine any and all records 
of the school system, including personnel records. 
 
In case a personnel file should be accessed by the School Board or anyone else, the 
employee whose file was so accessed shall receive written notice of the fact and the 
name and title of the person who was permitted access.  All persons permitted access 
shall maintain the confidentiality of those documents in the file that are not matters of 
public record. 



FILE:  F-8   
    

   

 City of Baker School District                                                                                   2 of 5 

If an employee wishes to review and/or obtain a copy of his/her personnel file, the 
employee must make a written request to the Superintendent or his/her designee not less 
than forty-eight (48) hours before the date the file will be reviewed. 
 
REQUESTS FOR ACCESS AND INSPECTION 
 
Additions to Personnel File 
 
No complaint, commendation, suggestion, or evaluation may be placed in the evaluation 
file unless it meets the following requirements: 
 
1. Each document concerning a school employee shall be placed in the employee's 

personnel file within a reasonable time and no document, except those resulting 
from routine recordkeeping, shall be placed in a school employee's personnel file 
by any school system employee, unless and until that school employee is 
presented with the original document and a copy thereof prior to its filing. 

 
2. Upon receipt of the original document and copy of the same, the school employee 

shall sign the original document as an acknowledgement of the receipt of the copy 
of the document.  Such signature shall not be construed as an agreement to the 
contents of the document. 

 
Rebuttal and Response 
 
Each school employee shall be given the opportunity to rebut and to respond to a 
document placed in his/her personnel file including but not limited to any document placed 
in such file on or before September 1, 1987. 
 
1. The rebuttal and response must be in written form and once filed shall be attached 

to the document to which the response and rebuttal applies, and thus become a 
permanent part of the school employee's personnel file as long as the document 
remains a part of the personnel file. 

 
2. No document or copy thereof, to which a response and rebuttal has been filed, shall 

be used for any purpose whatsoever unless the rebuttal and response or copy 
thereof is attached to the document or copy sought to be used. 

 
3. A school employee shall have the right to receive proof of any allegations and 

statements contained in a document placed in his/her file that the school employee 
believes to be inaccurate, invalid, or misrepresented.  If such proof is not 
presented, the document containing the allegations and statement shall be 
removed from the school employee's personnel file and destroyed. 
 

If, at any time, the Superintendent takes any personnel action against an employee based 
upon any document that was placed in the employee’s file on or before September 1, 
1987, the employee shall be given the opportunity to rebut and respond to such 



FILE:  F-8   
    

   

 City of Baker School District                                                                                   3 of 5 

document. 
 
Procedure for Filing of Rebuttal and Response 
 
1. Any rebuttal and response to a document placed in a school employee's personnel 

file shall be filed by the employee within fifteen (15) school days from the date on 
which the school employee signs the document acknowledging its receipt. 

 
2. The school employee may be granted an additional ten (10) school days for the 

filing of the rebuttal and response, provided the school employee requests such 
an extension in writing addressed to the personnel file custodian within the original 
fifteen-day period.  The personnel file custodian's consent to the ten-day extension 
of time shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
3. The rebuttal and response shall be deemed filed by the delivery of the original and 

one copy of the rebuttal and response to the personnel file custodian.  The 
personnel file custodian shall then sign and date the original rebuttal and response 
and file the same into the school employee's personnel file.  The personnel file 
custodian shall also sign and date a copy of the rebuttal and response and return 
the same to the school employee. 

 
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
Certain items in the personnel records of School Board employees shall be confidential, 
including: 
 
1. The home telephone number of the employee where such employee has chosen 

to have a private or unlisted home telephone number because of the nature of 
his/her occupation with such body. 

 
1. The home and personal wireless telephone number of the employee where such 

employee has requested that the number be confidential. 
 
2. The home address of the employee where such employee has requested that the 

address be confidential, except it shall be made available to recognized 
educational groups. 

 
3. The personal email address of the employee. 
 
4. The social security number and financial institution direct deposit information as 

contained in the personnel records of an employee of the School Board.  However, 
when the employee's social security number or financial institution direct deposit 
information is required to be disclosed pursuant to any other provision of law, 
including such purposes as child support enforcement, health insurance, 
retirement reporting, or to officials or employees of the school, School Board, 
Louisiana Department of Education, or Board of Elementary and Secondary 



FILE:  F-8   
    

   

 City of Baker School District                                                                                   4 of 5 

Education (BESE), in the performance of duties or responsibilities of the official or 
employee, the social security number or financial institution direct deposit 
information of the employee shall be disclosed pursuant to such provision of law. 

 
5. The name and account number of any financial institution to which the public 

employee’s wages or salary is directly deposited by an electronic direct deposit 
payroll system or other direct deposit system. 

 
The above information shall not be divulged to third parties. 
 
HEALTH AND MEDICAL RECORDS 
 
An employee’s health and medical records are deemed confidential and shall be 
maintained in a separate file apart from the employee’s general personnel file.  Such 
records will include: 
 
1. Medical/health records, claim forms, life insurance application, requests for 

payment of benefits and all other health records of an employee and his/her 
dependents enrolled in the City of Baker School Board adopted insurance plan. 

 
2. All medical records of an employee, all records of payment of compensation to an 

employee or his/her dependent and other records which would ascertain the 
identity of the injured employee or his/her dependent in a Worker's Compensation 
action. 

 
3. Medical information obtained as a result of an employee’s request for a reasonable 

work accommodation due to a disability. 
 
There may be instances where an employee’s medical information will need to be made 
available to certain supervisory personnel, such as where a request for a reasonable 
accommodation has been granted, to inform a supervisor of necessary work duties or 
restrictions due to an on-the-job injury, emergency treatment required by the employee, 
or if specific procedures are needed to aid the employee in case of fire or other 
evacuations. Supervisors, however, shall not have unlimited access to an employee’s 
medical file or to information about an employee’s medical condition which is unnecessary 
to the performance of the employee’s job. 
 
Medical information may also be made available to third parties as required by law or 
business necessity.  For example, the School Board may be required to release such 
information to government officials investigating the School Board’s compliance with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, to state worker’s compensation offices in accordance with 
Louisiana worker’s compensation laws, or to insurance companies where the insurer 
requires a medical examination before providing health or life insurance to employees. 
 
 
 



FILE:  F-8   
    

   

 City of Baker School District                                                                                   5 of 5 

RELEASE OF PERSONNEL RECORDS PERMITTED 
 
There are conditions under which personnel records of employees may be released.  
These conditions are: 
 
1. Personnel records may be released to persons other than the affected employee 

with the written consent of the employee or as required by law or the courts. 
 
2. Information relating to dependents and beneficiaries of deceased employees. 

Requests for such information may be required to be in writing. 
 
3. In all cases, an employee shall have unlimited access to any and all information 

contained in or pertaining to his/her own health record. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Document means any written or otherwise tangible material intended to be or actually 
used as a part of or any evidence of the work history of any employee including but not 
limited to any and all reports, comments, reprimands, correspondence, memoranda, 
evaluations, observations, and grievances relative to a particular employee. 
 
Personnel file means those file(s) which contain the cumulative collection of any and all 
documents maintained by the school system with respect to each individual employee. 
 
Personnel file custodians (file custodians) means those persons employed by the 
school system charged with the duty of maintaining and preserving the personnel files. 
 
Third party means any person or entity not regularly employed, or employed under a 
contract by the school system in which the employee is employed. 
 
 
Revised:  October, 2001 
Revised:  November, 2003     
Revised:  January 9, 2007 
Revised:  May 3, 2016 
Revised:  October, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref: 5 USCA §552 (Privacy Act of 1974); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:81, 17:440, 17:1231, 

17:1232, 17:1233, 17:1234, 17:1235, 17:1236, 17:1237, 17:1238, 23:1127, 
23:1131, 23:1293, 44:1, 44:2, 44.4, 44:11, 44:12; Board minutes, 1-9-07, 5-3-16. 



FILE:  F-9.4 
Cf:  F-9.1, F-9.5 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     1 of 4 

RECRUITMENT 
 
 
The City of Baker School Board shall make a concerted effort to recruit the best qualified 
applicants available.  When vacancies occur in existing positions or when new positions 
are created, and such positions are not filled by transfer of qualified personnel, the 
Superintendent or his/her designee shall post notice of the vacancy and shall have the 
discretion to advertise for certain positions when circumstances warrant. 
 
When filling vacancies in positions of authority or those with policymaking duties, the 
Superintendent or his/her designee shall not utilize only oral contacts and interviews of 
applicants considered, or use any other means to circumvent the provisions of state 
statute.  Nothing, however, shall prohibit oral contact prior to a person becoming an 
applicant or shall prohibit oral contact which may result in a written application or other 
documents. 
 
APPLICATIONS 
 
Applications for teaching positions shall be retained by and in the office of the Director of 
Personnel for a period of not less than three (3) years and all applications for non-certified 
positions shall be retained for a period of not less than one (1) year. 
 
Disclosure of Information by Applicant 
 
As part of the application process, the School Board shall require the applicant to sign a 
statement that authorizes the release and disclosure of the following information by the 
applicant’s current or previous employer(s): 
 
1. All actual cases of sexual misconduct with a minor or student by the applicant. 
 
2. All instances of sexual misconduct with students, as defined by the Louisiana 

Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE), and outlined in the 
Louisiana Handbook for School Administrators, Bulletin 741, committed by the 
applicant, if any, if such employer is/was a city, parish, or other local public School 
Board. 

 
3. All investigations of sexual misconduct by the applicant with a minor or student 

that occurred within thirty-six (36) months prior to the applicant’s resignation, 
dismissal, or retirement from employment. 

 
4. All actual or investigated cases of abuse or neglect committed by the applicant, if 

any, if such employer is/was the Louisiana School for the Deaf, the Louisiana 
School for the Visually Impaired, or the Louisiana Special Education Center. 
 
If an investigation determined that a formal allegation of an applicant was 



FILE:  F-9.4 
Cf:  F-9.1, F-9.5 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     2 of 4 

inconclusive, unjustified, or otherwise without cause for further formal pursuit, the 
applicant shall not be required to disclose such information. 

 
The statement shall also request the current or previous employing School Board make 
available to the School Board, through its Superintendent or his/her designee, within 
twenty (20) business days of receipt of the request, copies of all documents as contained 
in the applicant's personnel file maintained by such employer relative to instances of 
sexual misconduct, if any.  Such request for information shall include a copy of the 
required statement signed by the applicant. 
 
The Superintendent, or principal, with the approval of the Superintendent, may employ 
any applicant on a conditional basis pending a review of any information obtained 
pursuant to this request.  Permanent employment shall not occur until the information has 
been satisfactorily verified.  However, in accordance with statutory provisions, the 
Superintendent shall not hire any applicant who does not sign the release of information 
statement as required by law. 
 
Any information obtained by the School Board as a result of the signed release statement 
and request outlined above shall be used by the Superintendent only for the purpose of 
evaluating an applicant's qualifications for employment in the position for which he/she 
has applied, is not subject to the state public records statutes, and shall not be disclosed 
to any person, other than the applicant, who is not directly involved in the process of 
evaluating the applicant’s qualifications for employment. 
 
In addition to the above, as part of the application process, the School Board shall request 
the applicant’s performance evaluation results, if applicable.  The applicant, once the 
evaluation results have been received, shall be given an opportunity to review the 
information received and provide any response or information the applicant deems 
appropriate. 
 
Finally, the applicant shall grant permission by signing a statement on the application form 
that permits the School Board to have access to any and all reference, background, and 
previous employment information and to receive copies of any such documentation from 
a current or previous employer. 
 
Disclosure of Applicant’s Records 
 
The name of each applicant for certain positions of authority or those with policymaking 
duties, the qualifications of such an applicant, and any relevant employment history or 
experience of such an applicant shall be available for public inspection, examination, 
copying, or reproduction as provided for in the statutory provisions governing public 
works. 
 
 
 



FILE:  F-9.4 
Cf:  F-9.1, F-9.5 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     3 of 4 

Bus Operators 
 
All persons, prior to employment as a bus operator with the School Board, shall fill out an 
application form.  Each applicant shall complete all prerequisites required by law and 
Bulletin 119, Louisiana Student Transportation Specifications and Procedures, before 
he/she shall be considered for employment as a bus operator or substitute bus operator. 
 
Upon completion of the prerequisites, the applicant’s valid application shall be filed in the 
personnel department for consideration of employment to fill vacancies as they occur.  All 
applications shall be validated each year. 
 
CRIMINAL HISTORY OF APPLICANTS 
 
The City of Baker School Board shall require, in accordance with state law, applicants for 
employment with the School Board to submit necessary information regarding their 
backgrounds.  Every prospective employee shall be required to provide authorization for 
the disclosure of any information regarding past criminal activities, including arrests, 
convictions, having pled nolo contendere, or other dispositions, including dismissal of 
convictions, of any criminal offense, in accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §15:587. 
 
A standard applicant fingerprint card acceptable to the Louisiana Bureau of Criminal 
Identification and Information and a disclosure authorization form shall be provided the 
applicant by the School Board or may be obtained from local police authorities.  It shall 
be the responsibility of the applicant to have his/her fingerprints taken by a qualified 
individual and submitted to the proper authorities for processing.  Any cost associated 
with fingerprinting or the disclosure of background information on an applicant may be 
passed on to the applicant. 
 
1. For the purposes of reviewing the criminal history of prospective employees, any 

person employed to provide cafeteria, transportation, janitorial, or maintenance or 
student services by any person or entity that contracts with a school or school 
system to provide such services shall be considered to be hired by the school 
system. 

 
2. A person who has been convicted of or has plead nolo contendere to crimes listed 

in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §15:587.1 shall not be hired as a bus operator, substitute 
bus operator, or janitor, or as a temporary, part-time, or permanent school 
employee of any kind. 

 
A. The School Board may hire a person as an administrator, teacher, or 

substitute teacher who has been convicted of or plead nolo contendere to 
a felony not listed in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §15:587.1(C), who has been found 
to have submitted fraudulent documentation to the Louisiana Board of 
Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) or the Louisiana Department 
of Education (LDOE) as part of an application for a Louisiana teaching 



FILE:  F-9.4 
Cf:  F-9.1, F-9.5 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     4 of 4 

certificate or other teaching authorization, or who has been found to have 
facilitated cheating on any state assessment if BESE properly issues a 
teaching certificate or authorization after a formal appeal request submitted 
by the person. 

 
B. The School Board may reemploy an administrator, teacher, or other school 

employee who has been dismissed for conviction of a crime, except a crime 
listed in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. 15:587.1(C) only upon written approval of the 
district judge of the parish and district attorney, or upon written 
documentation from the court in which the conviction occurred stating that 
the conviction has been reversed, set aside, or vacated.  Such statement of 
approval from the judge and district attorney and any written documentation 
from the court shall be kept on file and produced upon request by law 
enforcement. 

 
 No later than thirty (30) days after the documentation is placed on file by the 

school, the school principal shall submit a copy of said documentation from 
the court to the Louisiana Superintendent of Education. 

 
 
Revised:  January 9, 2007 
Revised:  May 3, 2016 
Revised:  July 25, 2018 
Revised:  March 3, 2020 
Revised:  October, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. ''15:587, 15:587.1, 17:15, 17:24.2, 17:81, 17:81.9, 17:83, 

17:430, 17:3884, 23:291, 42:1119, 44:12.1, 44:31, 44:31.1, 44:32, 44:33, 44:34; 
La. Children’s Code, Art. 603, 606; Board minutes, 3-8-00, 1-9-07, 5-3-16, 7-25-
18, 3-3-20. 



NEW POLICY  FILE:  F-12.11 
Cf:  F-12.8 

 

City of Baker School District      1 of 2 

USE OF PRONOUNS AND GIVEN NAMES 
 
 
An employee of the City of Baker School Board shall not be required to address a student 
by a name other than the student's legal name, or a derivative thereof, and the employee 
shall not be required to use a pronoun that is inconsistent with the student's sex.  
  
An employee shall not be subject to adverse employment action for declining or refusing 
to do any of the following:  
  

• Address a person using a name other than the person's legal name, or a 
derivative thereof, or by a pronoun that is inconsistent with the person's sex.  

 
• Identify his/her own pronouns, in violation of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:2122. 

 
A student shall not be subject to disciplinary action for declining or refusing to do any of 
the following:  
 

• Address a person using a name other than the person's legal name, or a 
derivative thereof, or by a pronoun that is inconsistent with the person's sex.  
 

• Identify his/her own pronouns, in violation of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:2122.  
  

If a school employee refers to a minor student by a pronoun that is inconsistent with the 
student's sex or refers to the student by a name other than the student's legal name, or a 
derivative thereof, the parent may seek corrective action by the school principal so that 
the student will be addressed according to the student's sex, as defined below.  
 
If the school principal intentionally refuses to implement corrective action, or, if after the 
school principal implements corrective action, an employee intentionally refuses to honor 
the corrective action, then the parent shall have remedies as follow:  
 

• An employee, parent of a minor student, or a student who has reached the age 
of majority aggrieved by an intentional violation of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:2122 
by a public school shall have a private cause of action for injunctive relief, 
monetary damages, reasonable attorney fees and costs, and any other 
appropriate relief.  
 

• All civil actions brought pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:2122 shall be 
initiated within two years of the violation occurring.  

  
This policy shall not be construed to permit employees to disclose student information as 
prohibited under the Federal Education Records Privacy Act (FERPA), 20 U.S.C.A. 
§1232(g).  



NEW POLICY  FILE:  F-12.11 
Cf:  F-12.8 

 

City of Baker School District      2 of 2 

DEFINITIONS 
 
As used herein, the following terms have the following meanings:  
  
Employee means any individual working in any capacity at a public  school including but 
not limited to teacher s and other school employees, school bus operators, extracurricular 
personnel, and independent contractors.  
 
Legal name means a person’s name as may be evidenced on his/her original birth 
certificate issued at or near the time of birth.  
 
Parent means a student's parent or legal guardian. 
 
Sex means a person's immutable biological sex, either female or male, as may be 
evidenced on his original birth certificate issued at or near the time of birth.   
 
Female means an individual whose biological reproductive system is developed to 
produce ova and who has, had, will have, or would have, but for a developmental or 
genetic anomaly or historical accident, the reproductive system that at some point 
produces, transports, and utilizes eggs for fertilization.  
 
Male means an individual whose biological reproductive system is developed to fertilize 
the ova of a female who has had, will have, or would have, but for a developmental or 
genetic anomaly or historical accident, the reproductive system that at some point 
produces, transports, and utilizes sperm for fertilization.  
 
Student means a person enrolled at a public school on a full-time or part-time basis.  
 
New policy:  September, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. '17:2122.  



FILE:  G-2.4c 
Cf:  G-2.4c.1, G-2.4c.2 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     1 of 4 

EDUCATION OF STUDENTS WITH EXCEPTIONALITIES 
 
 
The City of Baker School Board shall make available a free appropriate public education 
in the least restrictive educational environment to each student with an exceptionality, 
ages three through twenty-one, who is a resident of the geographical boundaries of the 
school district.  Special education and related services may be provided by the School 
Board to eligible children with exceptionalities under three years of age.  Generally, 
identified children shall be screened and evaluated to determine eligibility to receive 
special education and related services.  If it is determined through the evaluation process 
that a child has a disability and, by reason thereof, needs special education and related 
services, then the child is classified in accordance with Louisiana’s Pupil Appraisal 
Handbook, Bulletin 1508, and becomes eligible to receive special education services.  All 
special education services shall be provided to eligible students with exceptionalities in 
accordance with the regulations outlined in Regulations for the Implementation of the 
Exceptional Children's Act, Bulletin 1706 and all other applicable federal and state 
regulations. 
 
The School Board shall establish and maintain policies and procedures in accordance 
with federal and state laws and regulations to ensure that students with exceptionalities 
and their parents are provided the necessary procedural safeguards with respect to the 
provision of free appropriate public education by the School Board. 
 
NOTIFICATION OF INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS 

Each school shall provide parents, legal guardians, or tutors of students with 
exceptionalities written information regarding legal procedures affecting the transfer of 
individual rights from parent, legal guardian, or tutor to child when the child attains the age 
of majority, including but not limited to supported decision making, power of attorney, 
continuing or permanent tutorship, and limited and full interdiction. The document shall 
inform parents, legal guardians, or tutors and how each option relates to such transfer of 
rights.  

At the child's first Individualized Education Program (IEP) meeting of the school year, the 
document shall be provided to a parent, legal guardian, or tutor of each child who is 
fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, or seventeen years old who participates in alternate 
assessment pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:24.4(F)(3) or an alternate pathway to 
promotion pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. Ann.§17:24.4(H). Parents, legal guardians, or tutors 
shall be provided a form by which to confirm receipt of the information.  
 
SECLUSION AND RESTRAINT 
 
The School Board recognizes that, in order for students to receive a free appropriate 
public education, a safe learning environment needs to be provided.  In doing so, the 
School Board also recognizes that there are circumstances in school under which 



FILE:  G-2.4c 
Cf:  G-2.4c.1, G-2.4c.2 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     2 of 4 

reasonable and appropriate measures and techniques will need to be employed in dealing 
with students with exceptionalities who pose an imminent risk of harm to self or others. 
 
The School Board fully supports the use of positive behavior interventions and support 
when addressing student behavior.  The School Board reserves its right, however, to use 
physical restraint and/or seclusion consistent with state law to address the behavior of a 
student with an exceptionality when school personnel reasonably believe the behavior 
poses an imminent risk of harm to the student or others.  The School Board shall not 
preclude the use of physical restraint and/or seclusion performed consistent with the 
requirements of a student’s Individualized Education Program (IEP) or behavior 
intervention/management plan. 
 
The provisions regarding seclusion and restraint shall not be applicable to a student who 
has been deemed to be gifted or talented under Bulletin 1508, unless the student has 
been identified as also having a disability under Bulletin 1508. 
 
Definitions 
 
Imminent risk of harm shall mean an immediate and impending threat of a person causing 
substantial physical injury to self or others. 
 
Seclusion shall mean a procedure that isolates and confines a student in a separate room 
or area until he or she is no longer an immediate danger to self or others. 
 
Seclusion room means a room or other confined area, used on an individual basis, in 
which a student is removed from the regular classroom setting for a limited time to allow 
the student the opportunity to regain control in a private setting and from which the student 
is involuntarily prevented from leaving. 
 
Mechanical restraint means the application of any device or object used to limit a person’s 
movement.  Mechanical restraint does not include:  (1) A protective or stabilizing device 
used in strict accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions for proper use and which is 
used in compliance with orders issued by an appropriately licensed health care provider; 
and (2) Any device used by a duly licensed law enforcement officer in the execution of 
his/her official duties. 
 
Physical restraint means bodily force used to limit a person’s movement.  Physical 
restraint does not include:  (1) Consensual, solicited, or unintentional contact; (2) 
Momentary blocking of a student’s action if the student’s action is likely to result in harm 
to the student or other person; (3)  Holding of a student, by one school employee, for the 
purpose of calming or comforting the student, provided the student’s freedom of 
movement or normal access to his or her body is not restricted; (4) Minimal physical 
contact for the purpose of safely escorting a student from one area to another; (5) Minimal 
physical contact for the purpose of assisting the student in completing a task or response. 
 
Positive behavior interventions and support means a systematic approach to embed 



FILE:  G-2.4c 
Cf:  G-2.4c.1, G-2.4c.2 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     3 of 4 

evidence-based practices and data-driven decision making when addressing student 
behavior in order to improve school climate and culture. 
 
School employee means a teacher, paraprofessional, administrator, support staff 
member, or a provider of related services. 
 
Documentation and Notification 
 
The parent or other legal guardian of a student who has been placed in seclusion or 
physically restrained shall be notified as soon as possible.  The student’s parent or other 
legal guardian shall also be notified in writing, within twenty-four (24) hours, of each 
incident of seclusion or physical restraint.  Such notice shall include the reason for such 
seclusion or physical restraint, the procedures used, the length of time of the student’s 
seclusion or physical restraint, and the names and titles of any school employee involved. 
 
The director or supervisor of special education shall be notified any time a student is 
placed in seclusion or is physically restrained. 
 
A school employee who has placed a student in seclusion or who has physically 
restrained a student shall document and report each incident.  Such report shall be 
submitted to the school principal not later than the school day immediately following the 
day on which the student was placed in seclusion or physically restrained and a copy 
shall be provided to the student’s parent or legal guardian. 
 
The guidelines and procedures regarding seclusion and restraint maintained by the 
Superintendent and staff shall be provided to the Louisiana Department of Education 
(LDE), all school employees, and every parent of a student identified with a disability 
under Bulletin 1508.  
 
All instances where seclusion or physical restraint is used to address student behavior of 
students with disabilities under Bulletin 1508 shall be reported, in accordance with the 
Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) policy, by the School 
Board to the LDE. 
 
Guidelines and Procedures 
 
The School Board shall require the Superintendent and staff to maintain adequate written 
guidelines and procedures governing the use of seclusion and physical restraint of 
students in accordance with federal and state law, as well as regulations and guidelines 
promulgated by BESE.  The School Board shall approve written guidelines and 
procedures regarding appropriate responses to student behavior that may require 
immediate intervention using seclusion and/or restraint.  The written guidelines and 
procedures shall be provided to all school employees and every parent of a student with 
an exceptionality and shall include reporting requirements and follow-up procedures, 
including notification requirements for school officials, notification to the student’s parent 
or legal guardian, and reporting of seclusion and restraint incidents to the LDE. 



FILE:  G-2.4c 
Cf:  G-2.4c.1, G-2.4c.2 

City of Baker School District                                                                                     4 of 4 

The written guidelines and procedures shall be posted at each school under the 
jurisdiction of the School Board, and on the School Board’s website. 
 
Follow-Up  
 
Following any situation resulting in the use of seclusion or restraint of a student, a 
Functional Behavioral Assessment (FBA) should be considered.  If a student subject to 
the use of seclusion or physical restraint is involved in five (5) such incidents in the school 
year, the student’s Individualized Education Program (IEP) team shall review and revise 
the student’s Behavior Intervention Plan (BIP) to include any appropriate and necessary 
behavioral supports.  Thereafter, if the student’s challenging behavior continues or 
escalates, requiring repeated use of seclusion or physical restraint practices, the special 
education director or supervisor or his/her designee shall review the student’s plans at 
least once every three (3) weeks.  
 
Employee Training Requirements 
 
The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be responsible for conducting or obtaining 
appropriate training programs for school personnel designed to address the use of 
seclusion and restraint techniques with students with disabilities.  In addition, positive 
behavioral intervention strategies, crisis intervention, and de-escalation, as well as other 
procedures, may also be included in any training. 
 
Charter Schools 
 
Notwithstanding any state law, rule, or regulation to the contrary and except as may be 
otherwise specifically provided for in an approved charter, a charter school established 
and operated in accordance with State law, including its approved charter and the 
school’s officers and employees, shall be subject to the School Board’s policy and written 
procedures and guidelines regarding the use of seclusion and restraint with students with 
exceptionalities. 
 
Revised:  May 19, 2009     Revised:  October, 2024   
Revised:  December, 2011 
Revised:  February, 2012 
Revised:  May 3, 2016 
Revised:  July 25, 2018 
Revised:  February 1, 2022 
 
Ref: 20 USCA '1400 et seq. (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act); 34 CFR '300 

(Assistance to States for the Education of Children with Disabilities); La. Rev. 
Stat. Ann. ''17:7, 17:416.21, 17:1941, 17:1942, 17:1943, 17:1944, 17:1945, 
17:1946, 17:1947; Pupil Appraisal Handbook, Bulletin 1508, Louisiana 
Department of Education; Regulations for the Implementation of the Exceptional 
Children's Act, Bulletin 1706, Louisiana Department of Education; Board minutes, 
5-19-09, 5-3-16, 7-25-18, 2-1-22. 



FILE:  G-2.4e 
Cf:  G-2.1   

City of Baker School District                                                                                    1 of 2 
 

SEX EDUCATION 
 
 
In order to better educate and meet the growing awareness of today's youth, School 
Boards have been granted the discretion, if so desired, of conducting classes in subject 
matter designated as sex education.  Said subject matter shall be integrated into an 
existing course of study in grades seven through twelve (7-12).  When offered, such 
instruction shall be offered to non-graded special education students at age appropriate 
levels.  Whenever instruction in sex education is offered by a school, such instruction 
shall be available also to any student in such school regardless of the student's grade 
level who is pregnant or who is a mother or father. 
 
No religious beliefs, values, customs, practices in human sexuality nor the subjective 
moral and ethical judgment of any person shall be included in the study of sex education.  
Students shall not be tested, quizzed, or surveyed about their personal or family beliefs 
or practices in sex, morality, or religion. 
 
All instructional materials used during the course of study of sex education shall be 
submitted to and approved by the City of Baker School Board and by a parental review 
committee, whose membership shall be determined by the Board.  The major emphasis 
of any sex education institution offered in this parish shall be to encourage sexual 
abstinence between unmarried persons and any instruction shall: 
 
 (a) Emphasize abstinence from sexual activity outside of marriage as the 

expected standard for all school children. 
 
 (b) Emphasize that abstinence from sexual activity is a way to avoid unwanted 

pregnancy, sexually transmitted disease, including acquired immune 
deficiency syndrome and other associated health problems. 

 
 (c) Emphasize that each student has the power to control personal behavior 

and to encourage students to base action on reasoning, self-esteem and 
respect of others. 

 
Any child may be excused from receiving instruction in sex education at the option and 
discretion of his/her parent or guardian. 
 
INSTRUCTION OR DISCUSSION ON SEXUAL ORIENTATION, GENDER IDENTITY  
  
No teacher, school employee, or other presenter at a school shall engage in the following 
discussions with students in grades kindergarten through twelve:  
 
1. Covering the topics of sexual orientation or gender identity in any classroom 

discussion or instruction in a manner that deviates from state content standards or 
curricula developed or approved by the School Board. 



FILE:  G-2.4e 
Cf:  G-2.1   

City of Baker School District                                                                                    2 of 2 
 

2. Covering the topics of sexual orientation or gender identity during any 
extracurricular academic, athletic, or social activity under the jurisdiction of the 
school or School Board.  
 

3. Discussing his/her own sexual orientation or gender identity.  
 
Nothing in this policy shall be construed to mean a student may not seek out guidance 
from a teacher or licensed mental health professional outside classroom hours with prior 
parental consent.  
 
Revised:  October, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref:  La. Rev. Stat. Ann §§17:281, 17:412. 
 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    1 of 7 

STUDENT HEALTH SERVICES 
 
 
HEALTH CARE CENTERS 
 
In order to provide adequate health care and services to students, the City of Baker 
School Board may authorize the establishment of student health care centers in the 
schools of the parish.  Any health clinic established shall be supervised by a school nurse, 
who shall be licensed in accordance with state law.  Health care centers shall provide 
services which include, but are not limited to the following:  treatment of minor illness and 
injury, routine physical examinations, immunizations, referrals to alcohol and drug abuse 
prevention program counselors, and mental health services.  No student shall receive any 
type of service unless the required standardized school health forms as outlined in Health 
and Safety, Bulletin 135, Louisiana Department of Education, have been signed, returned 
to school, and have been filed in the clinic. 
 
HEARING AND VISION SCREENING 
 
The School Board, during the first semester of the school year, or within thirty (30) days 
after the admission of students entering school late in the session, shall test the sight, 
including color screening for all first grade students, and hearing of students according to 
the schedule outlined by the American Academy of Pediatrics, except those students 
whose parents or guardians may object to such tests.  Students may also be tested upon 
referral or requests of teachers and/or parents. 
 
A record of such examination shall be kept and the administrators shall be required to 
follow up on the deficiencies within sixty (60) days, and shall notify in writing the parent 
or tutor of every student found to have any defect of sight or hearing. 
 
EDUCATIONAL SCREENING AND EVALUATION 
 
Every student in grades kindergarten through third shall be screened, at least once, for 
the existence of impediments to a successful school experience.  No student shall be 
screened if his/her parent or guardian objects to such screening.  Such impediments shall 
include: 
 

1. dyslexia and related disorders; 
2. attention deficit disorder; and 
3. social and environmental factors that put a student "at risk." 

 
Students in need of services and/or assistance shall have it provided to them. The 
screenings shall be done directly by elementary school counselors, pupil appraisal 
personnel, teachers, or any other professional employees of the School Board who have 
been appropriately trained, all of whom shall operate as advocates for the students 
identified as needing services or assistance.  No screenings shall be done by persons 
who have not been trained to do such screenings. 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    2 of 7 

The School Board shall ensure that educational screening activities, conducted by a 
committee at the school level, shall be completed before a student is referred for an 
individual evaluation through pupil appraisal services. 
 
Students who are experiencing learning or adjustment difficulties in a regular program, 
but are not thought to be exceptional, may receive support services from pupil appraisal 
by a referral from a committee at the school level. 
 
Testing for Dyslexia 
  
A dyslexia screener selected by the Louisiana Department of Education shall be 
administered to each student in the second half of kindergarten, or upon the request of a 
teacher or parent or legal guardian student, school nurse, classroom teacher, or other 
school personnel who has reason to believe that a student has a need to be tested for 
dyslexia and related disorders, that student shall be referred to the school building level 
committee for additional testing. The School Board shall provide remediation for students 
with dyslexia or related disorders in an appropriate education program. 
 
For purposes of this policy, dyslexia shall be defined as an unexpected difficulty in reading 
for an individual who has the intelligence to be a much better reader, most commonly 
caused by a difficulty in phonological processing, which affects the ability of an 
individual to speak, read, and spell.  Phonological processing means the appreciation of 
the individual sounds of spoken and written language. 
 
OTHER HEALTH CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The School Board acknowledges that only properly trained personnel shall make 
recommendations regarding certain health issues of students. 
 
The School Board shall prohibit, in accordance with statutory provisions, any teacher 
employed by the School Board from recommending that a student be administered a 
psychotropic drug, specifying or identifying any specific mental health diagnosis for a 
student, or using a parent's or guardian's refusal to consent to the administration of a 
psychotropic drug to a student or to a psychiatric evaluation, screening, or examination 
of a student as grounds for prohibiting the student from attending any class or participating 
in any school-related activity or as the sole basis of accusations of child abuse or neglect 
against the parent or guardian. 
 
The provisions of the above paragraph shall not be construed so as to prohibit any of the 
following: 
 

1.  An employee of the School Board who is a registered nurse, nurse 
practitioner, physician, or an appropriately credentialed mental health 
professional or teacher from recommending that a student be evaluated by 
an appropriate medical practitioner. 

 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    3 of 7 

2.  A teacher or other certified employee of the School Board from suggesting 
a student be assessed or evaluated by qualified employees of the School 
Board who perform such function. 

 
3.  A teacher assessing or evaluating any element of a student's academic 

readiness, performance, or achievement. 
 
4.  Any employee of the School Board from discussing any aspect of a 

student's behavior or academic progress with the student's parent or 
guardian or any other employee of the School Board. 

 
Definitions 
 
Psychotropic drug shall mean a substance that is used in the diagnosis, treatment, or 
prevention of a disease or as a component of a medication and is intended to have an 
altering effect on perception, emotion, or behavior. 
 
Teacher, for purposes of this section of the policy, shall mean any person employed by 
the School Board, who, as a condition of employment, is required to hold a valid teaching 
certificate issued by the Louisiana Department of Education and any person employed by 
the School Board as a substitute teacher. 
 
SEIZURE TREATMENT AND TRAINING 
 
The parent or guardian of a student with a seizure disorder may submit to the 
administration of the student's school a seizure management and treatment plan 
developed by the student's parent and treating physician for review and use by school 
employees with whom the student has regular interaction.  The plan shall include the 
following: 
 

1. The health care services the student may receive at school or while 
participating in a school activity. 
  

2. Evaluation of the student's ability to manage and understand his/her seizure 
disorder. 

   
3.  Signatures from the student's parent or guardian and from the treating 

physician. 
 
School nurses and such school employees and school bus operators who have regular 
interactions with a student for whom there is a seizure management and treatment plan 
shall be required to biennially successfully complete instruction provided by the 
Department of Education. 
 
 
 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    4 of 7 

ADMINISTERING CATHETERS 
 
The School Board shall not require any employee other than a registered nurse or a 
licensed medical physician to catheterize any student until all of the following conditions 
have been met: 
 
 1. A registered nurse or licensed medical physician, employed by the School 

Board, has assessed the health status of the specific child in his/her specific 
educational setting.  The registered nurse has determined that the 
procedure could be safely performed, the results are predictable and could 
be delegated to someone other than a registered nurse following 
documented training. 

 
 2. The registered nurse or licensed medical physician shall train at least two 

(2) employees to catheterize the specific child in his/her educational setting.  
The employees shall be given not less than eight (8) hours of training in the 
area of catheterization of students. 

 
 3. Following the training provided for in #2, no catheterization may be 

performed unless prescribed in writing by a licensed medical physician.  The 
employee, other than the registered nurse or licensed medical physician, 
shall be required to complete, under the direct supervision of a registered 
nurse, a minimum of five (5) catheterizations.  Upon one hundred percent 
successful completion of these catheterizations, the registered nurse or 
licensed medical physician and the trainee shall sign a standard form 
indicating that the trainee has attained the prescribed level of competency.  
A copy of this form shall be kept on file by the school system. 

 
4. Individuals who are required to perform catheterizations and have been 

trained according to statutory provisions, may not decline to perform such 
service except as exempted by a licensed medical physician or a registered 
nurse.  The reasons for such exemption shall be documented and certified 
by the licensed medical physician or a registered nurse within seventy-two 
(72) hours. 

 
 5. Any employee shall have the right to request that another School Board 

employee be present while catheterizing the student, to serve as a witness 
to the procedure.  After making such a request, the employee shall not be 
required to catheterize a student without such a witness. 

 
The provisions of this part of the policy shall be restricted to those students who have had 
intermittent catheterization prescribed as a treatment for urinary or neurologic dysfunction 
and not for continuous bladder drainage or to obtain urine specimens for diagnostic 
purposes.  No employee shall be requested to catheterize any student for continuous 
bladder drainage or to obtain urine specimens for diagnostic purposes. 
 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    5 of 7 

SICKLE CELL DISEASE TRAINING 
 
Each school nurse shall participate in an in-service training program of at least one hour 
relative to sickle-cell disease using instructional materials provided by the Louisiana 
Sickle Cell Commission to the State Department of Education. 
 
PERFORMING NONCOMPLEX HEALTH PROCEDURES 
 
The term noncomplex health procedure shall mean a task which is safely performed 
according to exact directions, with no need to alter the standard procedure, and which 
yields predictable results.  It shall include the following: 
 
 1. Modified activities of daily living which require special instruction such as 

toileting/diapering, bowel/bladder training, toilet training, oral/dental 
hygiene, lifting/positioning, and oral feeding. 

 
 2. Health maintenance procedures such as postural drainage, percussion, 

tracheostomy suctioning, gastrostomy feeding and monitoring of these 
procedures. 

 
 3. Screenings such as growth, vital signs, hearing, vision, and scoliosis. 
 
No noncomplex health procedure, except screenings and activities of daily living such as 
toileting/diapering, toilet training, oral/dental hygiene, oral feeding, lifting, and positioning 
may be performed unless prescribed in writing by a physician licensed to practice 
medicine in the state of Louisiana or any other state of the United States. 
 
The School Board shall not require any employee other than a registered nurse, licensed 
medical physician, an appropriate licensed health professional, or, in the case of 
tracheostomy suctioning procedure, any hired and trained unlicensed nursing personnel 
or unlicensed assistive personnel as defined by the Louisiana State Board of Nursing, to 
perform noncomplex health procedures until all the following conditions have been met: 
 
 1. A registered nurse or a licensed medical physician and, when appropriate, 

another licensed health professional employed by the School Board, has 
assessed the health status of the specific child in his/her specific 
educational setting and has determined that, according to the legal 
standards of the respective licensed health professional performing such 
procedure, the procedure can be safely performed, the results are 
predictable, and the procedure can be delegated to someone other than a 
licensed health professional following documented training. 

 
 2. The registered nurse or the licensed medical physician and, when 

appropriate, another licensed health professional shall train, in his or her 
area of expertise, at least two (2) such employees to perform noncomplex 
health procedures on the specific child in his/her educational setting.  The 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    6 of 7 

employees shall be given not less than four (4) hours of training in the area 
of noncomplex health procedures. 

 
 3. Following the training provided for in #2, no noncomplex health procedure, 

except screenings and activities of daily living such as toileting/diapering, 
toilet training, oral/dental hygiene, oral feeding, lifting, and positioning may 
be performed unless prescribed in writing by a physician licensed to practice 
medicine in the state of Louisiana or an adjacent state. 

 
  The employee, other than the registered nurse, licensed medical physician, 

or appropriate licensed health professional shall be required to complete, 
under the direct supervision or coordination of a registered nurse, a 
minimum of three (3) satisfactory demonstrations.  Upon satisfactory 
completion of these noncomplex health procedures, the registered nurse, 
licensed medical physician, or appropriate licensed health professional and 
the trainee shall sign a standard form indicating that the trainee has attained 
the prescribed level of competency.  A copy of this form shall be kept on file 
by the school system. 

 
 4. Individuals who are required to perform noncomplex health procedures and 

have been trained according to the provisions of state law and this policy 
may not decline to perform such service at the time indicated except as 
exempted for reasons as noted by the licensed medical physician or 
registered nurse.  The reasons for such exemption shall be documented 
and certified by the licensed medical physician or a registered nurse within 
seventy-two (72) hours. 

 
5. An employee shall have the right to request that another School Board 

employee be present while he/she is performing noncomplex health 
procedures for a student, to serve as a witness to the procedure.  After 
making such a request, the employee shall not be required to perform 
noncomplex health procedures without such a witness. 

 
6.  Employees who have volunteered to perform a tracheostomy suctioning 

procedure and who comply with the training and demonstration 
requirements outlined in #2 and #3 above may be allowed to perform such 
procedure on a child in an educational setting. 

 
The School Board shall provide the necessary safety equipment, materials, and supplies 
to each employee who performs noncomplex health procedures.  Such safety equipment, 
materials, and supplies shall include but not be limited to gloves, anti-bacterial soaps and 
wipes, paper towels and masks. 
 
For the purposes of this section of the policy, employee means any appropriate member 
of the education staff, and appropriate licensed health professional shall include a 
licensed practical nurse. 



FILE:  H-3.6 

City of Baker School District                                                                                    7 of 7 

Revised:  August, 2003    Revised:  December 6, 2022 
Revised:  November 7, 2006   Revised:  October, 2023 
Revised:  September 1, 2009   Revised:  August, 2024 
Revised:  May, 2013    Revised:  October, 2024 
Revised:  May 3, 2016     
Revised:  July 25, 2018 
Revised:  November 18, 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§14:403, 17:170, 17:392.1, 17:435, 17:436, 17:436.2, 

17:436.4, 17:436.5, 17:2112, 40:31.3; Irving Independent School District v. Tatro, 
104 S. Ct. 33371 (1984); Health and Safety, Bulletin 135, Louisiana Department 
of Education; Board minutes, 11-7-06, 9-2-09, 5-3-16, 7-25-18, 11-18-20, 12-6-22. 


	12-03-2024  Board Agenda
	E-1 Board Minutes.11-5-2024
	E-2 Financial Summaries
	E-3 BID AWARD SUMMARY 24-25
	E-4a Baker School Terracon
	E-4b EH221171.signedcontract
	F-1 November 2024 Personnel Report
	F-2 PolicyAlert-#4-Oct,2024-
	F-2a B-12-01_24b (hl) (BCBB)
	F-2b C-03-04_24 (hl) (CBD)
	F-2c F-08-00.24 (GAK) (hl)
	F-2d F-09-04.24 (GBC) (HL)
	F-2e F-12-11_24 (NEW) (GAMK)
	F-2g G-02-04c_24 (IDDF) (hl)
	SECLUSION AND RESTRAINT
	Guidelines and Procedures
	Follow-Up
	Employee Training Requirements

	F-2h G-02-04e_24  (IDBA)(hl)
	F-2i H-03-06_24b  (hl) (JGC)
	Every student in grades kindergarten through third shall be screened, at least once, for the existence of impediments to a successful school experience.  No student shall be screened if his/her parent or guardian objects to such screening.  Such imped...
	1. dyslexia and related disorders;
	2. attention deficit disorder; and
	3. social and environmental factors that put a student "at risk."
	Students in need of services and/or assistance shall have it provided to them. The screenings shall be done directly by elementary school counselors, pupil appraisal personnel, teachers, or any other professional employees of the School Board who have...

	The School Board shall ensure that educational screening activities, conducted by a committee at the school level, shall be completed before a student is referred for an individual evaluation through pupil appraisal services.
	Students who are experiencing learning or adjustment difficulties in a regular program, but are not thought to be exceptional, may receive support services from pupil appraisal by a referral from a committee at the school level.


